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~ |ATEVICTORIAN: ~ Romanesque
_ 19th & 20thc. AMER.:  Prairie School

foundation _ STONE: limestone

walls BRICK
. STONE: Limestone
roof STONE: Slate
other METAL
GlLASS
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significant in our past.

I C  Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
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high artistic values, or represents a significant and
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GAS CITY HIGH SCHOOL DESCRIPTION:

The Gas City High School at 400 E. South A Street, Gas City Indiana, 1s a nearly square, two
story, Romanesdue Revival, brick and stone bullding. (See photeo 1) Constructed in | 894, it 15 topped
with a pyramidal roof and offset gables on all four elevations. In 1923, a two-story rectanqular brick
addition and a separate heating plant were completed. (See photos 2 and 4.) The two buidings are
constructed of similar matenals, but the facade of the south addition was intentionally designed “un-
adorned” to keep the bulding cost lower. (See photos 3 and 4.) A two story “bridge” connects the
bulldings with the intent to keep the high school and elementary school students apart. (See photo 1 0.}
The school occupies the west half of a city block n a residential neighborhood.,

Exteror

The bulding’s primary facade faces north on South A Street. (See photo 1) 115 divided into
three sections of a central tower flanked by an east gabled section and a west section with small through-
cormee dormer. Lach section 1s set back from the one to its east,

The most outstanding feature 15 the tower’s central entry. Six stone steps rise to the wood fioor
entry level. It has a large roughcut limestone Roman arch supported by short Frank Furness-style Doric
columns below carved square imposts. (See photo 9.) Recessed under the arch, two wood single light
doors with fixed side paneis replace the original two eight panel woeod doors. Orginal fluted pilasters with
corner block paterae are present. The oniginal fanight window was replaced with four-part divided light
Lucite windows. Bead board wanscot flanks entrance below panted smocoth-surface plaster. The second
story has two rectangular windows with 20 divided-hght Lucite paneis in the upper three-quarters of the
onginai window opening. The lower quarter 15 a clear ight awning-style window. Aluminum covers the
wooa jamps. Limestone beltcourse, winch spans the entire north elevation, runs below the window at the
level of the sill. A wider imestone beltcourse, also spanning the entire north elevation, tops the windows
at the level of the header. The attic story 15 what remains of the original bell tower. Two, onginal,
arched, double-hung windows are surmounted by z brick eyebrow arch and flanked by corner tourelles,
foreshortened when the upper two-thirds of the tower was removed gving it a false machicolated appear-
ance. (See photos | and 3.) A continuous imestone beltcourse spans the north elevation running under
the windows at the aill level. A himestone beltcourse also arcumvents the tower base at the level of the
mposts and at the base of the deeply corbelled false machicoiation. Missing from the tower are the
large arched openings and the bell contained within, the steeply pritched pyramidal roof and its narrow
metal spire, and the upper section of the corner tourelles, which rose above a metal frieze and ended in
engagead conical peaks.

The east gabled section has four bays of windows and s topped by a gabled attic story. (See
photo |.) This section 1s wisually anchored by a foundation of five courses of roughcut stone capped by a
smooth stone water table. The bulding’s lowest level 1s partially below grade and has four, square win-
dows within the foundation wall. The glazing has been replaced with Lucite configured with five divided
lights in the upper half and one clear ight in the lower half. The next window to the west has two rows of
five divided hghts rather than a lower clear ight. The alternating pattern continues in the twe windows to
the west. The jambs are covered with alumimum.

The first floor has four onginal arched windows surmounted with a brick semicircular arch and
eyebrow arch. The rectangular windows have been replaced. The east window has 20 divided-light Lucite
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panels in the upper three-guarters of the orgmal window opening and the lower quarter s a clear light awning-
style window. The next window 15 an zli-Lucite dwvided light window. The last two windows alternate with a lower
awning window first then an ail Lucite window. Aluminum covers the wood jambs. A limestone beltcourse runs
under the windows at the aiif level and at the mpost.

The four second floor rectanqular windows alternate a lower guarter ciear awning window with a full
Lucite divided light window. A narrow limestone beltcourse runs at the sill level and wide stone banding i at
the header level.

A large gable spans the athic. A brick semicircular arch and eyebrow arch surmount two small, arched,
aouble-hung original wood windows centered in the gable. The gable 15 capped with stone and has 2 stone finial.
(See photos | and 3.) Corner brick toureiles, whose stone bases begin just below the sill level of the second
floor windows, flank the east section. A third Iimestone beltcourse spans the attic at the windowsill level. The
tourelles have a conical stone cap. -

The west section 1s similar to the east section irom the foundation to the imestone beltcourse above
the second story windows except there are five bays of windows rather than four bays. The windows alternate
between clear awning and full Luate windows with three awning windows in each story. The top of the second
story 15 marked with a corbel table interrupted by a through-cornice dormer in the center of the section. A
limestone beltcourse at the top of the corbel table 1s a continuation of the mestone beltcourse spanning the
north elevation at the sill level of the attic windows. The small gable dormer 15 above the third and fourth
window bays, and 15 flanked by small square pillars. (See photo & for similar dormer.) The gable has a stone cap
and stone final. The west end of the west section 15 finished with a small tourelle similar to those described in
the east section, beginning just below the second story Imestone beltcourse at the sili level and ending just
above the terminus of the roofiine.

The nearly square shaped bulding 15 surmounted by a pyramidal slate roof with decoratively pattered
rectanquiar and segmental slates and topped with a louvered cupola. (See photos 3, 5, and 6.} The cupola has
fluted corner boards with capitals, bracketed eave, louvered sides, but does not vent the attic. There 15 a small
gavled tnangular window with original mullions on north slope of pyramidal roof nearly obscured by the bell
tower. The root 15 intersected with the rdgepoles of large aabled sections. The east gable faces north with
the roof sloping east and west. The north slope of the west elevation gable extends the west end of the roof.

The south elevation is similar to the north elevation, but 15 carned out in two sections rather than three.
(See photos 4 and 6.)  The gabled west section 1s similar to the gabled east section on the north elevation.
As there 15 no central bell tower, the entrance and east section are on the same plane. The foundation 15 typicat
of the bulding, five courses of rough imestone capped by a smooth stone water table. The west two of the
five square fixed Lucite windows in the foundation wall have clear ight in the lower half of the window. The
entrance 15 at grade and the entry s flush with the brick wall. The semwcircular brick arch 1s higher, reaching the
second story sill level Imestone beltcourse. Below the arch, four sections of mulii-light Luaite windows replace
orgial windows. A wide steel honzontal band 1s at mid-arch. Steel entry doors are replacements of the org-
nal. The remainder of the east section 1s similar to the west section on the north elevation. However because
of the lack of bell tower, the deeply corbelled cornice runs the width of the east section except at the through-
comice gabled dormer where the brick 15 laid in common bond. (See photo &.) The dormer 15 the same as the
dormer on the east section of the north elevation. A pyramidal slate roof with decoratively patterned rectangu-
lar and segmental slates iz topped with a louvered cupola, The cupola has fluted corner boards with capitals,
bracketed eave, louvered sides, but does not vent the attic. There 1s a small gabled triangular opening, origi-
nally a muilioned, on south slope of pyramidal roct. The roof 1s intersected with the ndgepoles of large gabled
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sections, The west gable faces south with the roof sloping east and west. The south slope of the east
elevation gable extends the east end of the roof.

The east elevation 15 similar to the south elevation except there 15 no entrance. (See photo 5.) The
roughcut imestone foundation spans the entire elevation. The south section is virtually the identical to the
west section of the south elevation. The north section has two bays of windows rather than an entry. The
bays are set wide apart on either side of a centrally located multi-flue chimney. The windows follow the typical
pattern for each floor, and all have a lower clear hght awning window. A large metal multi-section tube vent
runs diagonally from the first second floor window in the north section ending at ground level at the north
window of the north section. The roof 15 similar fo the south elevation. An addtional element of a mult-fve
chimney constructed of decoratvely patterned brick pierces the base roof in the center of the east elevation.

The west elevation 1s eimilar to the east elevation. There 1s a centrally located multi-flue chimney con-
structed of decoratively patterned brick. The roughcut imestone foundation spans the entire elevation. The
major difference 1s a three-story brick “bridge” located in the center of the west elevation connecting al 923
annex Lo the onginal buldng. (See photos 4 and 10.)

1223 Addition

In 1923, John Waldron designed a Praine style rectanguiar annex set back and west of the onginal Gas
City thgh School. (See photos 2, 3,4, 6, 7 and | |.) t1s primanly constructed of brick with an asphalt roof,
stone windowsills and wood windows and doors. The building 1s longer than it 1s wide. Full-height pilasters on
the north and west elevations add a decorative element to the bulding. (See photos 2, 3 and |1} A
beltcourse (a soldier course edged above and below with a stretcher course) between third and second levels
reinforces the liner design on the north, west and south elevations. (See photos 2, 3,4, and | 1.} The
windows do not align between the two buldings. (See photos 3 and 4.} All the windows are onginal. (See
photos 2, and | 1.)

The 1923 annex 15 connected to the original ingh school wa a brick three-story bridge. (See photos
2,4 and 10.) The flat roof structure retains the original north elevation single light double-hung window
openngs on both the first and second levels. There were never any openings on the man leve! or on the
south elevation of the bridge.

The north elevation is the primary facade. (See vhoto 2.) It has five bays: a central bay of pared
windows and doors flanked by two bays of single windows. The ongjinai wood double-hung windows have
single-light sashes. The bulinose mestone foundation 15 smoothly finished. The first floor singie story central
projecting entry pavilion has double bi-direchional doors with horizontally dvided lights in the veper half. Light
15 admitted wvia a si-ight transom and small side windows on the entry pawviion. The entry is just shghtly above
grade andg achieved by a shightly inclined concrete siab inside the vestibule. Two window bays on each side
flank the first floor entrance. The east bay of windows 15 two windows high with the first floor and stair-landing
windows shghtly shorter than the other north elevation windows. Rawsed sections of brick from foundation to
roof imitate brick pilasters at the corners of the bullding and between the two bays flanking the entrance.

The second floor has five bays of windows. Two bays of single windows flank the central bay of
pared single-ight double hung windows. The windows are all of similar scale and proportion and have stone
silis. A horizontal band of solider brick edaed n stretcher course runs between the first and second floors.
The two-pitched roof is flat on top with shallow angles and wide overhangs.

The west elevation 15 longer than the north elevation. (See photo |]1.) Six raised brick pliaster5 are
evenly spaced along the elevation creating five sections with windows in between the pilasters. The bulinose
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imestone foundation 15 smoothly fitshed.

The tirst floor windows are of varying sizes and levels. The single long narrow rectangular double-hung
window, centered in the lower half of the north sechion, has single ight sashes, and matches the north eleva-
tion windows. The next section (south} has one small four-hight window n the upper rght quadrant of the
section. The middle section has two double-hung wood windows with two divided hghts in each sash centered
in the upper two-thirds of the section. The fourth section windows are similar to the middle section, but are
more widely spaced apart on the wall. Finally, the south section has two windows one above the other near
the corner. The lower window is the same size and scale as the small window 1n the second section. The
vpper 1s a smaller version of the double-hung divided hight window.

The second floor windows are sitvated directly above the first flcor windows, and have uniform wall
placement so the tops of the windows and sills are at the same level. Al windows except the north section
window {which matches the north elevation windows) are similar in design. The windows are wood double-hung
with two lights in each sash. The north section has one window, the second and middle sections have two
windows each, and the fourth section has three windows. Finally, the south section has two windows. A
horizontal band of solider brick edged in stretcher courses runs between the first and second floors. A

- louvered vent, just above the brick beltcourse, 15 in all but the north section. A large metal mult-section tube
vent runs diagonally from the south second floor section ending at ground level in the middle sect:on.

The two-pitched roof 15 flat on top with shallow angles and wide overhangs. Down spouts from root to
ground are on the north end of the north section and the south end of the fourth section. A large roof vent 1s
located near the mdpont.

The south elevation 1s divided into three sections: a two-story central projecting section about half of
the width of the elevation with east and west sections. (See photos 4 and 6.) The smooth bullnose-shaped
stone foundation spans the south elevation. Two first floor two-over-two wood windows are set wide apart.
The second story has four two-over-two wood windows set high on the wall. A louvered vent, just above the
brick beltcourse, 15 below the windows at each end. The west section has a boarded lower square window
opemng that s shghtly smaller the window above. The upper window 15 a single sash two-over-two window.
The soldier beit course divides the wall. The second story has two windows with sills at the same level. The
large two-over-two double hung wood windows appear to meet the roof overhang. A louvered vent 15 under
the east window just above the beltcourse. The east section s a mirror image of the west section.  The two-
pitched roof has a pped extension over the projecting center section. A tall square brick chimney intersects
the southeast corner of the roof.

The east elevation has one pilaster near the south end. The stone foundation 15 smooth. The first floor
has one two-over two liaht wandow high on the wall toward the north end. The second floor windows are large
two-over-twa double-hung wood windows. There is one window 1t the south section, a pilaster, a group of
three windows and a parr of windows to the north; the connecting bridge 15 at the north end of the elevation.

The two-pitch roof has a large roof vent near the mdpomnt and downspouts near the north and south
ends of the bulching.

internor

Original building

The first and second stories were designed for classrooms, and the basement was vsed for the lunch-
room, restrooms and laboratory faciities, During this 1 923 building project, the onginal Gas City High School
building underwent changes that maximized the usable buillding space and upgraded the durability of the fin-
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ishes.  The oniginal entrances and window openings are intact. The window sashes were replaced with fixed
Lucite dmvided hght windows: some windows have clear glass awning windows in the lowest part of the open-
Ing.

In general, wamscot n rotunda, first and second floor rooms varies 1n height depending on the room.
Single, double, and m some cases triple rows of boards, are placed above the wanscot m the cloakrooms and
around the rotunda; some still retain hooks. (See photo 1 7.} The original pine floors were replaced with oak
mn 1923, Orngnal doors and hardware have been retained in most cases. All the door openings nave an
operable transom above. Wide fluted tnim around windows and doors is embellished with carved plinth blocks.
(See photo 16.) Nearly all chalk boards and the continvous cupped wood chalk trays are in place and n good
conaition. Functionally, the chalk tray 15 the dado rail. (See photos 14 and 15.) All the woodwork 15
painted. Most of the cellings are acoustic tile. Plaster cellings are exposed i some locations as acoustic
tile has fallen from furring strps. Metal florescent lights are suspended from celling. Classrooms have steam
heat. Ornate grills of onginal heating system still in place, but are blocked from behind. Plumbing pipes and
electrical wirng wnstalled as upgrades are surface mounted.

The basement 15 laid out with rooms or passageways surrounding an octagonal rotunda. The three
ways to access the basement are split returns from the mam floor on the south wall, through a west passage-
way from the |1 223 addition or the primary entry wia the onginal south doorway. (See photo 13.) Double
doors cpen to a landing. Split returns go to the first floor and a doublewde stair leads down into the ro-
tunda. The rotunda 1s a large, open space that was vsed for the lunchroom for many years. With no fixed
seating, no evidence of such use remains. Large classrooms are located in the northeast and northwest
corners. The cld shop classroom and boys’ tollet 15 in southwest corner. The girls’ tollet and teacher lounge
5 In the southeast corner. Some of the original indoor plumbing fixtures, such as toilets and sinks, are
present. All the square Lucite or Lucite and clear ight windows are high on wall. (See photo | 2.) The base-
ment 15 constructed of cement block walls, iron support posts in the rotunda and concrete floor throughout.

The conceptual plan of classrooms surrounding an octagonal rotunda is carried out on the first floor.
Primary entry 15 via double entry doors on the north wall lead that up a flight of six steps into the expanswe
rotunda. (See photo 18.) The first floor rotunda has four doors evenly spaced around sides that lead to
classrooms in the northwest, northeast, southwest and southeast corners of the building; four doors lead to
cloak rooms that e between the classrooms with two on the east and two on the west sides of the buiding.
The corner classrooms are large open spaces with muitipie windows on the exterior walis and chalkboards on
the nternor walls. (See photo 20.) The rotunda s fimshed with bead board wanscot and panted plaster
walis.

Traffic flow throughout the bullding s by way of a grand staircase at the east end of the rotunda. The
staircase has a doublewide central rise to a landing and split returns to the second floor. (See photo 18.)
Flanking the south star are split starcases to the basement. (See photo 16 and 192.) The newel post has a
square base, beaded embellishments of raised vanels and cormers, bull’s-eye on upper section and graduated
rovnd cap on chamfered top plate. (See photo 9.} The star has furned balustrades with square caps and
bases.

The second floor central rotunda 1 virtually straight on the west side making it hexaqonal. (See photo
21.}) The west side 15 similar n plan to the first floor with corner classrooms and adjacent closkrooms. An
enclosed starr to the attic 15 between the cloakrooms. The east side 1s divided into two rooms, a very large
north room and a typical size south classroom. This large space was partitioned in 1923 and still retans the
original chalkboard partition walis recessed in the criginat double south entry. (See photo 22.) The north
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entry door has not been altered, and can be seen here from the rotunda and from mside the room. (See
photos 21, 22 and 24.) later a more complete south partition wall was added to separate the large north
room nto two rooms. (See photo 23.) At the north end of the north room, a2 door communicating with the
rotunda was added when a second partition wall was added, making a total of three classrooms on the west
side of the rotunda, When the partition wall was later removed the communicating door was enclosed and 15
used as a “bullt-in” bocokcase. (See photo 22.} The ghost of this second partition wail, added 1n the mid
20th century then removed, can be seen under the beam. (See photo 22 to locate the boxed beam.) The
classrooms in the northwest and southwest corners of the second floor are much the same as those on the
first floor. Glass front cabinets are noteworthy n both classrooms. The painted cabinets are i the southwest
room, once the home economics room. (See photo 25.) Unpainted cabinets are in the northwest room where
science was taught. This room 1s typical of all the classrooms. (See photo 26.) The bridge to {923 addi-
tion 15 attached on the west side of the second floor,

The attic 15 a {arge, open, unimproved space. (See photo 27.) Two brick walls support the bell tower.
A wocd ladder leads to the first level of belfry. The central area has wood planks over the joists, but the
remainder has open joists. Each elevation has double windows in the gabled end. Smaller dormer windows
are at opposite end of each elevation; the bell tower on north elevation has two double windows. Each slope
of the pyramidal roof has a small tranqular window. Only the north window retamns the onginal mullions, the
others are boarded uvp. large ar handiers connected to the east chimney are sbill in place.

Intenor of 1923 Addition

The centrally located double entry doors of the 1923 addition open into a large star hall. The first
floor space. partially below grade, 1s largely gymnasium space. The gym, desianed to be very flexible, used
the stage area for seating at basketball games and the aym floor for seating at stage events. The ongmnal
stage 15 intact. (See photo 29.) Small locker/shower rooms flank the stage and are accessible wia stairs. The
bleachers are original except where reparred for termite damage. The bleachers are arranged in two sections
separated by the entry aisle. The magmficent pressed metal celling and boxed beams 15 comgletely intact.
The original gym floor has been replaced with vinyt tile. The backboards and score boards are not original.
Two rooms at the west end of the first floor were used for offices, The walls and celling are plaster.

The stair leading to the second floor has one landing and return where a door leads to the balcony
over the gymnasiwm bleachers. At the second floor level, the bridge to the | 824 bulding is visible at the
end of the hall. (See photo 28.) The second floor has a central hall with the boys and qiris locker rooms
midway down the hall and one large room at the south end. Lockers still line the central hall, and can also be
found adiacent to the girls restroom. Smaller classrooms, three on the west and two on the east, have the
orginal chalkboards, window sashes and doors. (See photo 30.) A long narrow room, used at one time for
typing class, lies at the top of the second floor stairway. This room 1s longer and narrower than all the other
second floor rooms. (See photo 31.) It has the unique feature that there are two openings in the wall that
are visible from this and the adjoining room. The large south room has windows high on the wall to accommo-
date the tall hbrary bookcases. An intact skylight s urique to the hbrary room. A gartition wail (the same
design as the partition wall on the second floor of the ! 834 bulding) dwides the large space nto two
spaces: one s large and the other s the size of the corner classrooms (identified previously as one of the
three classrooms on the west side of the second floor). The second floor’s painted plaster walis and simple
wood trim s intact.
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Boiler Room

The 1223 bullding project also mcluded the one story power plant on the south side of the site. (See
photos 4 and 6.) The flat multi-height roof has tiled edges. Onginal tall, narrow wood doors on the south
elevation have vpper divided Yights and cross-braced bottom panels. (See photo 4.) The north elevation has
a wood entry door. The east, north and south elevations have a bin door high on the wall.

Building condition

The 1894 Gas City High School s 1 good condition. The wood windows are in need of pant and
minor repair, The masonry walls are in generaily good condition; very little mortar s missing and the bricks are
not chipped or cracked. Minor cracks appear in the masonry above the second floor south windows and in the
upper gables of all the dormer windows. There 1s only a minor amount of dirt on the brick and steone.

Overall the 1923 addition 15 1n excellent condition. The wood windows are in need of paint and minor
repair, but few of the windows have missing glass. The masonry 15 1n good condition.  The metal roof vents
have some minor corrosion.

The mnterior 15 also overall In good condition. One room has severe plaster damage and missing plas-
ter, but that 15 a singular occurrence. Water from a leaking roof has damaged some of the wood floors,
especially on the second floor.

Site

The 1884 Gas City tigh School shares a full city Block with the 1223 addition, the 1967 elementary
school (now the Mississinewa Consolidated Schools Administrative Offices) and two houses buillt on the south-
east corner of the block. According to Grant County deed records, the school corporation never owned the
land where the houses are located. (See site map.) A grass lawn and several trees occupy the west haif of
the north lot in front of the main entry, with an asphalt parking lot directly in front of the school. The 1267
elementary school sits on the remainder of the east portion of the fot. (See photos 32 and 33.) A funeral
home 15 directly across South A Street, West of the | 223 addition 1s 2 grass lawn and a concrete sidewaik.
A cham-iink fence demarcates the southwest and south perimeter of the school grounds. A crude single-track
drive crosses the grass lawn on the south lot. The east lot 1s asphalt with several trees in the southeast
corner of the lot, One and two story late | 2th and early 20th century residences and several late 20th
century modular homes compgrise the near neighborhood to the east, south and west of the schoot.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Gas City High School meets the requirements for listing under the Indiana Public Common and High
School Multiple Property Listing under Criteria A and C.  The transition of Mill Township’s educational system
from a county system to a consclidated locally governed educational system mirrors the transition of the early
railroad and saw mili town of Harrisburg into the urban community of Gas City. This historic trend of the
development of communmty education meets the requirements for listing under Criterion A, The Gas City High
School meets the requirements for Criterion C because of its architectural significance. As the first Gas City
bulding desianated for the education of high school students, it was the largest and grandest bullding within
the neighborhood and the community.

Harnsburg began as a speculative development in | 867, when John S. Harrs platted 97 lots. Harmis’
entrepreneunal venture tock advantage of the proposed Prttsburgh, Cincinnatr and St. Louis Ralroad, which
began passenger service avtumn | 667, (Whitson, p. 65.) By ! 868, the town had grown and Harns platted
the town’s first addition. (Brant 4 Fuller, p. 581-583.) Two more additions were soon added. The town’s
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population grew to 750, and then dropped prior to the discovery of natural gas in | 887. Free bulding sites
and cheap enerqgy propelled the influx of businesses and residents, including chiidren. Capitalizing on economic
development opportunities Harrisbura’s name was changed to Gas City on March 21, 1892, Between

May |, 1892 and February |1, 1893, iifteen new factones located n Gas City, employing a total of 4025
workers. (Gas City, Indana - Where it 15 and Why You Should Move There.) |t was also duning the period of
rapid growth that the city services were improved. Water works were nstalled in | 892 and electricity was in
place by 18694,

Education and School History:

Initiaily school was held in frame schoolhouses scattered around the area. The hiring of the teacher,
the teacher’s qualifications and the curniculum were individually and locally controlled.  As early as 18670, Mill
Township enumerated students and controlled which school each student attended. There were six school
districts with a total of 2986 students. (There was no data for distrnict 2.) Districts |, 3 and 7 are within the
legal description of Harmisburg: Township 24, Range & East. District 7 had 34 colored students.

The county board of education administered the school system in the early days. The county was
divided into thirteen townships. The responsibility for educational matters for each township was delegated to
the township trustee. (Whitson, p. 325-6.) Harnsburg was in Mill Township. Some opposition to the con-
solidation of schools occurred because few of the students had adequate means of transportation beyond the
rural school. (Whitson, p. 325.) In | 874 several of the frame schoolhouses were closed in favor of
Harrisburg’s first consolidated school bullding. (Whitseon, p. 263.) A three-room brick structure at North “A”
and First Streets was constructed in 1 674, and served elementary students. This change 15 reflected m the
sudden increase of students in District 2. There were |07 district 2 students enumerated m 1875,
Harrisburg’s high school students attended school in nearby Jonesboro. (The Reporter, July 13, 1967.) The
I 877 Grant County Atlas lists one graded school in Harrsburg.

After the influx of factory weorkers during the gas boom, the high school students began attending
school in Gas City.” The first Figh School was held i a downtown building at 2nd Street, and later moved to a
bullding at First and Main streets that was later vsed for the indiana Dry Goods Store. {(Gas City’s 50th
Anmiversary Jubilee, p. 45}  Students subsequently moved to the Mississinewa Hotel occupying the last
downstairs roomn the Hotel Annex. (1207 Epoch, p. 15.) Grades 7 and & also met in the fotel. All these
students moved to the newly constructed Gas City tigh School building January 1895, (Epoch, p.15.) The
class size varied, but steadly grew throvahout the next | 2 years, decreasing in the years when a January
class was not admitted. Students did a mix of grade-levels work. By 18685, the State of Indizna approved the
three-year course of study. Ten pupils were doing all high school work and | & were doing part high school
and part grade school work.  From January ! 825 to | 628: the seventh angd eighth met in room eight, and
the remainder of the buiiding was used for high school students. The first high school class was graduated in
1897, (Whitson p. 328.)

Over the next 25 years room use was rearranged to meet the needs of the student population at any
gwven time. For example, from | 898 to 1 902 room eight was used only for the eighth grade. (Epoch 1207 )
in 1 200 the four-year course of high school study was commissioned. (Whitson, p. 328.) With the change
of courses, more space was recessary. The chemistry lab was set up in the northwest room of the basement
m 1900. (Epoch 1907.) And, n 1903, Fhysics and Botany began meeting in the northeast room of the
basement. (Epoch {207.) Supenntendent isaac W. Cripe instituted a completely new arrangement in 191 5.

Rooms on the east side of the hall were combined into two assemblies and the six and six plan instituted.
(1920 Epoch.)
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The student population completely outstripped the physical space of the school by the early 1920s.
An addition was designed and built by the original buillder, John H. Waldron m 1 9223, Improvements were also
made to the orngmal building with the removal of the old furnaces and the nstallation of a steam heating plant.
The new furnace room, detached from both school buidings, was outside to the south of the main buldings.
This change made two additional classrooms avalable in the old basement. One was used for manual traimng
equipment; the other room was for the school nurse and janitorial supplies. Other improvements included
replacing the old pine floors with hardwood floors, the addition of slate blackboards, and new window
shades.

The 1923 bulding 15 connected with the old bulding by an enclosea passageway in the basement and
on the second floor. This leaves the grade rooms on the first floor of the old bulding undisturbed by the
high school. (Newspaper Reporter? Dec. 286, 1923.) The new bullding was dedicated and was put into use
on January 1, 1924,

The fower floor of the new addition was a gymnasium. It had a fine basketball floor with baskets at the
east and west ends. Bleacher seats along north wall would seat 500. Additional seating was avalable using
chairs stored under bleachers. The room would seat 800 for entertanment using the basketball fioor, and
700 for basketball games using stage for seating. (Reporter, Dec, 28, 1223) The south side of the room
had a shower at each end with dressing room and tolet above.

There were also tennis courts, baseball damond, | 2° wide track, sidewalk, campus lights and land-
scaping. Summer athletics were popular at the school. (1937 Fpoch.} Sadly, none of these outdoor
athletic sites . - remain.

As the rural one-room schools became overcrowded and inadequate, citizens beaan requesting better
faciities for the students. Alter a successfui November 4, | 947 vote to establish a jont high schocl, a
group was organized on March | 1, 1948 to plan for the first consolidated tigh school.  After the last class
was graduated from Gas City High School in spring 1 248, the name was changed to Mississinewa Jomt Tigh
Schoaol. (Reporter.)

The first board of the consclidated Gas City and Jonesboro schools was functioning by August 1,
1948, the begirming of the fall term. The Mississinewa Joint High School began operation in the former Gas
City High School bullding with students from Jonesboro also attending. The school was recognized as a first
class commissioned school and was admitted into the North Central Association of Colleges and High
Schools n 1249, The next vear, by an act of the Indiana legislature, the elementary students were permit-
ted to be included in the jomt school system. The board voted as such on August |, 1242, Thus the
Mississinewa Jomt School system was established consolidating all the Jonesboro, Gas City and Mili Town-
ship schools. Shortly thereafter the Mississinewa Holding Corporation with mere than 500 shareholders
established for the purpose of bulding a new lgh school buliding. After three years of fund raising, planning
and buiiding, the bullding was dedicated on March 13, 1951, With the removai of the mgh school students
to the Mississinewa Jomt High School bullding, the former Gas City High School became the East Ward
School where junior high school and etementary students were educated. (Reporter) In 1 277, a new
Mississinewa High School was built. The 1251 building became the R.J. Basket Middie School, and the
| 594-1923 bulding became the East Elementary School. A new elementary school was bult on the north-
east corner of the lot of the Gas City High School in 1 967, (Reporter.) In 1292 the East Elementary School
was closed for student vse, but continued to be used by the school corporation for storage. It was remod-
eled in 2003 and 15 now the school corporation office.
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Architecture:

The Gas City thigh School 15 an excellent example of Richardsonian Romanesque style of architectural
design. Its the earliest examgle of a Gas City school and was consiructed during the robust economic
times of the gas boom era. The school 15 a local landmark to hundreds of former students. Fopular from the
| 240s until the md | 2603 were the signatures that boys left behind on the attic beams as testimony of
thewr tenure as students. Annual class photographs that were taken under the massive Romanesque stone
arch of the Gas City High School are evidence of its contribution to the community’s the sense of place.
Each class 15 gathered on the steps with the beautiful multi-panel doors in the background. That the ongmnal
exterior appearance of the | 894 bulldmg has retained much of s ongmal appearance 15 also testament to
the significance of the bullding in the community. The school also took advantage in the very latest modern
conveniences such as indoor plumbing installed in the basement restrooms., and electric ighting. The 1923
addition was purposely of plain design so that it not detract from the original bulding. John H. Waldron,
designer and buiider of the ongmal schocl and the addibion, was no doubt influenced by the popularity of the
Richardsoman Romanesque style for Indiana’s public bulldings in the latter part of the | 9th century. Between
1886 and 1897, fifteen indhana county Romanesque Revival courthouses were constructed. Many churches
and schools also chose to use the style to signify their imposing presence in neighborhoods and communi-
ties. The Romanesque style had an enduring popularity in Gas City. The second Gas City School, West Ward
School bullt between 1 200- 1902, was also designed by John H. Waldron in the Romanesque style.  West
Ward Scheol has some destgn elements in common with Gas City High School; it 15 a large massed brick
bullding with roughcut Iimestone foundation, three levels and attic, central projecting entry with large arch
entry and stone banding. West Ward School also has some unique characteristics. Among them are that the
corners of the bullding are defined by a conical-roofed tower, and no bell tower exists. The interior also very
different. It has mine classrooms located among the basement, mamn and second fioors, but where Gas City
High School has a grand rotunda, West Ward School has a small rectangular common area on the main floor.
Rather than the grand staircase of Gas City High School, West Ward School has only a small staircase to the
second floor located at the back of the bulding. The school 1s now 2 museum owned and operated by the
Gas City Histonical Society. The walls are covered with faux-wood paneling in most of the classrooms and in
the central common area. The buiding 1s 1n good condition. West Ward School was listed in the National
Register of Historic Places on | 9% December |985. Waldron also designed and built several residences in
Gas City. The best known 1s the John L. Thompson House located at 407 East Main Street and rated out-
standing in the Grant County, Indiana Intenm Report of Indiana Historic Sites and Structures [nventory. s
a large two and a haif-story brick house designed in the Colonial Revival style and bult during the same time
as West Warg School, 1202 — 1206. 15 in very poor condition, but has had few exterior changes.
Waldron’s styles changed with current trends in the design and construction of the Nesbitt House in 1 906.
It 15 a Craftsman bungalow that 1s also located on East Main Street. Waldron also distinguished himself in the
community as the aity’s first treasurer and city counciiman. Perhaps the most prominently located Ro-
manesque Revival bullding in Gas City was the Mississinewa Hotel at the comer of 3™ and East Main Streets.
Described as a masswe building that dominated the downtown area in the Indana Inventory, unfortunately the
bullding was razed and replaced with a gas station i the 1290s. Built in 1823, 1t was used for temporary
school classrooms during the construction of Gas City thgh School.




NPS Form 10-200-a MOB Approval No, 1024-0¢18
(B-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet

Gas City High School
Section number 2. !0 page ! Grant, Inchana

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Brunt ¢ Fuller, History of Grant County, Volumes | and 2. Chicago, i 886.

Counts, . Witmer, ed. The Maanficent 92 Indiana Courthouses. _Indiana University Press, 1299, revised.

“Dedication Program: Mississinewa Jont High School.” March 13, 1251

The Epoch. The Gas aity High School Senior Class. Gas City, Indiana, 1907.

The Epoch. The Gas city thgh School Senior Class. Gas City, indiana, 920.
- The Epoch. The Gas aity Fligh School Senior Class. Gas City, indiana, 1932,

The Epcch. The Gas city High School Senor Class. Gas City, Indiana, 1937,

Gas City Journal, “Gas City’s 50th Anniversary Jubilee and Homecoming 1892 - 1942, September 23,
24, 25, 19427, Gas City, Indiana, | 242.

“Gas city, inchana: Where 1t 15 and why you should mvest there.” No publisher, no date.

Grant County Interim Report, Indiana Historic Sites and Structures Inventory. Historie Landmarks Foundation
of Indizna, 1993,

“Mill Township Enumeration Records”. 1870 - 1203,

The Pow Wow. The Mississinewa High School Senior Class. Gas City Indhana, 249,

The “Reporter”™. 1215, 1927, 1955.

Smith, Alta. A Century of Development. Grant County Jumor Historical Society, Gas City, Inchana, April
1937.

Whitson, Rolland Lews. Centenrsal History of Grant County, Indianza, 1812 to 1212, The Lews Publishing
Company. New York, 1214,

Verbal Boundary

The following lots or parts of lots in Gas City Land Companys First Edition:

Lots 305, 306, 307, 308, 309, 310, 311

West 1/4 Lot 312, South 1/2 Lot 332, South 1/2 Lot 331, South 1/2 lot 330, South 1/2 Lot 329,
South 1/2 Lot 328, Southwest 1/& Lot 327, Lots 305, 306, 307, 308, 309, 310, 31

West 1/4 Lot 312, West /2 Alley |65

Map Key Number: 0734-301-062.000-23
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Boundary Justitication

The boundary includes the | 824 school and 1923 addition, and s the legal description of the
property. That part of the property occupied by the free-standing 1967 elementary school 15
excluded from the verbal boundary description.

PHOTOGRAPH LIST

FPhotographer: Judy K. Cowling
Date: All the exteror and interior photographs were taken on 6 June 2003.
Onginal negatives: Division of Historic Preservation and Archaeology
402 West Washington Street, Room W274
[ndianapolis, IN 46204
Gas City Migh School, | 894 buiding will be referred to as GCHS.
Gas City High School Addition, 1223 bulding will be referred to as Addition.

GCHS, north elevation, looking south,
Addition, north elevation, looking south.
GCHS and Addition, north and west elevations, looking southeast.
Addition and GCHS, south elevation, looking north.
GCHS, east elevation, looking west.
GCHS and Addition, south and east elevations, locking northwest.,
GCHS, west elevation; Addition, north elevation, looking east.
GCHS, south elevation, looking north.
GCHS, north elevation, looking south-southwest.,
. GCNS, west elevation; Bridge, north elevation; Addition, North elevation, looking south.
1. Addiion, north and west elevations, looking southeast
12, Basement, GCHS, looking northwest.
3. Basement GCHS, looking north.
[4.  First floor GCHS, locking west.
5. First floor GCHS, looking northwest.
l6.  Second floor GCHS, looking northeast.
7.  Second floor GCHS, looking northwest.
1&.  First floor GCHS, looking south.
12, First Floor GCHS, looking northwest.
20.  First Floor GCHS, looking southeast.
21. Second Hloor, GCHS, looking southeast.
22,  Second floor, GCHS. looking southwest.
23. Second floor GCHS, locking northwest.
24. Second floor GCHS, looking northeast.
25.  Second floor GCHS, looking south.
26.  Second floor, GCHS, locking southwest.
27.  Attic GCHS, looking south.
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